#### IN THE SUPREME COURT

#### STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 74,724

RIDGEWOOD PROPERTIES, INC.

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY AFFAIRS,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST DISTRICT, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT RIDGEWOOD PROPERTIES, INC.

Christopher C. Skambis Florida Bar No. 262358 FOLEY & LARDNER, VAN DEN BERG, GAY, BURKE, WILSON & ARKIN 111 N. Orange Ave., Ste. 1800 P.O. Box 2193 Orlando, FL 32802-2193 (407) 423-7656

and

Bill L. Bryant Florida Bar No. 179270 FOLEY & LARDNER P.O. Box 508 Tallahassee, FL 32302 (904) 222-6100

Attorneys for Appellant Ridgewood Properties, Inc.

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 3, 1987, Thomas G. Pelham as Secretary of the Department of Community Affairs (hereinafter "the Department") issued a Notice of Violation and Order for Cessation and Corrective Action (hereinafter "the Notice and Order") directed to Appellant Ridgewood Properties, Inc. (hereinafter "Ridgewood") (R. 3625). The Notice and Order contained findings of fact and conclusions of law reflecting the Department's belief that Ridgewood's predecessor, CMEI, Inc., had developed a project commonly called Maitland Center which was a development of regional impact (hereinafter "DRI") but had not sought development approval and was not otherwise exempt from application of Chapter 380, Florida Statutes (1987).

Ridgewood responded to the Notice and Order by filing a Petition for Formal Administrative Proceedings (hereinafter "the petition") on March 24, 1987 (R. 3602). The petition denied the material allegations of the Notice and Order and contained affirmative defenses to the Notice and Order.

The proceeding was referred to the Division of Administrative Hearings. Administrative Hearing Officer, J. Lawrence Johnston was assigned to conduct the final hearing on the matter.

The final hearing was conducted on March 8-11, 1988.

The only witness testifying on behalf of the Department in its case-in-chief was Department Secretary Thomas G. Pelham (TR. VOL. I, p. 305). Over objection (TR. VOL. I, p. 271-275, 315), Secretary Pelham was permitted to testify as an expert witness on

behalf of the Department and was qualified over objection (TR. VOL. I, p. 315-318) by the Hearing Officer as an expert in "land use planning," "matters related to Chapter 380, Florida Statutes" and "departmental policy" (TR. VOL. I, p. 318).

Both the Department (R. 112-152) and Ridgewood (R. 153-180) submitted proposed recommended orders, and Ridgewood submitted a memorandum in support of its proposed recommended order (R. 181-206) with leave of the Hearing Officer (TR. VOL. IV, p. 1152).

The Hearing Officer rendered his Recommended Order on June 8, 1988, finding against Ridgewood on its contentions regarding vested rights, statute of limitations and estoppel but also finding that a 26-acre parcel of property acquired from Maitland in February 1985 (hereinafter the "1985 Acquisition Parcel") should not be aggregated with original Maitland Center for purposes of development approval review (R. 62-111).

Ridgewood filed exceptions to the Recommended Order (R. 212-244) all of which were rejected in the Final Order rendered September 27, 1988 by Secretary Pelham (R.1-61). The Department filed a single exception to the Recommended Order requesting that the Hearing Officer's conclusion of law with respect to aggregation be rejected so that the 1985 Acquisition Parcel would be aggregated with original Maitland Center for purposes of development approval review (R. 207-211). Secretary Pelham incorporated the Department's exception in his final order and also modified Finding of Fact Number 34. While Ridgewood excepted to a portion of finding a

fact Number 34, neither Ridgewood nor the Department excepted to that finding of fact in the manner necessary to result in Secretary Pelham's modification.

A timely Notice of Appeal to the First District Court of Appeal was filed with the Department on October 20, 1988. The First District rendered its opinion (Appendix, p. 1) on September 8, 1989 affirming the final order but certifying the following question to this Court as a question of great public importance:

IS IT A VIOLATION OF A PARTY'S DUE PROCESS RIGHTS IN AN ADMINISTRATIVE HEARING FOR THE HEAD OF A DEPARTMENT TO APPEAR AS AN EXPERT WITNESS WHEN THAT SAME DEPARTMENT HEAD LATER ENTERS THE FINAL ORDER IN THE CASE?

Ridgewood timely filed its Notice to Invoke Discretionary

Jurisdiction with the First District Court of Appeal on September 15,

1989.

#### STA OF FACTS

Citations to the Record on Appeal shall be reflected as (R. ). Citations to the transcript of testimony shall be identified as (TR. VOL. \_\_, p. \_\_) and shall refer to the pages by record page number, Exhibits will be identified by (D. Exh. \_\_) for Department exhibits and (R. Exh. \_\_) for Ridgewood exhibits.

# A. Secretary Pelham's Participation in the Proceedings Below

Thomas G. Pelham, a Florida lawyer, a law school professor and private practitioner, was appointed as Secretary of the Department in February, 1987 (TR. VOL. I, p. 309). On March 7, 1987, Mr. Pelham, as Secretary of the Department, issued the Notice of Violation (R. 3625) containing findings of fact and conclusions of law based on an investigation performed by Department Staff (D. Exh. 111, 120, 121).

Secretary Pelham was listed as a potential witness on the Department's witness list (R. 3472) incorporated in the Prehearing Stipulation (R. 3463). The witness list reflected the Department's intent to call Secretary Pelham as an expert witness in "land use planning" (R. 3472). Ridgewood objected, in the presence of Secretary Pelham, on due process grounds, to the Department's use of Secretary Pelham as an expert witness both before he was called as a witness (TR. VOL. I, p. 271-5) and after voir dire with regard to his qualifications (TR. VOL. I, p. 315). In addition, Ridgewood objected (TR. VOL. I, p. 315) to Secretary

Pelham's qualifications as a land use planner in that he had no education, training or experience as a land use planner (TR. VOL. I, p. 312-3). Finally, Ridgewood objected to his qualifications as an expert in the areas of "matters related to Chapter 380" and "departmental policy" in that (i) he was not qualified by training or experience to render opinions in those areas, (ii) those areas are not commonly recognized areas of expertise and, (iii) he was not listed on the Prehearing Stipulation as an expert in those areas (TR. VOL. I, p. 315-6). All objections were overruled (TR. VOL. I, p. 316-7). Secretary Pelham was the sole witness making the Department's case-in-chief.

At the close of the Department's case, Ridgewood moved for an involuntary dismissal of the Notice of Violation (TR. VOL. I, p. 421-444). After Ridgewood completed its argument on the motion, the following exchange occurred between the Hearing Officer and counsel for the Department:

The Hearing Officer: Does the Department wish to add anything to what <u>Secretary</u> Pelham has arqued as the proper interpretation of the various laws we've been talking about:

Mr. Jordan: Well, just one thing and with that in mind I won't repeat what he said. (Emphasis supplied.)

(TR. VOL. I, p. 444).

The hearing officer's recommended order (R. 62) found for the Department on the subjects covered by Secretary Pelham's

In issuing his final order, Secretary Pelham rejected all of Ridgewood's exceptions, accepted the Department's sole exception and modified a factual finding to which neither Ridgewood nor the Department excepted (R. 1-61, 212-244, 207-211). Ridgewood excepted to the admission in evidence of Secretary Pelham's testimony on the same basis as its hearing objections (R. 212-244, Exceptions 69-71). The final order did not recite that Secretary Pelham reviewed the 3900 page record of the administrative proceeding (R. 1).

### B. Authorization to Commence Development

In the early 1970's, the City of Maitland (hereinafter "Maitland") was a small, country town of approximately 5000 inhabitants (TR. VOL. 11, p. 501, 577). Maitland had no planning department (TR. VOL. 111, p. 724). Maitland operated informally and kept sketchy minutes of its proceedings (TR. VOL. II, p. 479, 501). Not until November, 1970 did Maitland adopt a subdivision ordinance (R. 3121, Tab 17). The ordinance was to be administered by the City Manager and the requirements of the ordinance could be waived for large scale development (Id. at §§ 15 & 16).

Foreseeing the need for an increased tax base in a predominantly residential community and anticipating construction of the Maitland Boulevard/Interstate Highway 4 Interchange, Maitland initiated annexation discussions with S.C. Battaglia, the owner of the property which was to become original Maitland Center (TR. VOL. 11, p. 573).

In May, 1971 Dean Downs, John E. Dye and Albert E. Strickland (hereinafter "the partnership") entered into an option agreement to purchase certain property from S.C. Battaglia, including property on the west side of Interstate Highway 4 (hereinafter "I-4"), comprising a portion of that which is now known as original Maitland Center (TR. VOL. 11, p. 468-9, 516-18, 540-2, 582, 706). The option was exercised, resulting in a purchase contract that was contingent on annexation of the property into Maitland and rezoning of the property west of 1-4 into specified, moderate and high-density commercial and residential uses (Id). John E. Dye and Dean Downs were the principal participants in the rezoning and annexation process (TR. VOL. 11, p. 478, 577-8). The price to be paid for the property was approximately five times its value as it was then zoned (TR. VOL. 11, p. 519). If the property was not zoned in a manner satisfactory to the partnership, the property would not have been purchased or annexed into Maitland (TR. VOL. 11, p. 468-9, 614). A large parcel of property on the east side of 1-4, which was also subject to the option, was not annexed or purchased as a result of Maitland's unwillingness to grant the requested rezoning (TR. VOL. 11, p. 539).

Maitland did not have zoning categories sufficient to deal with the partnership's requested rezoning (TR. VOL. 11, p. 531, 584, 609-11). In negotiating the zoning categories to be applied to the property on the west side of 1-4, detailed presentations were made to the Maitland City Council by the partnership (TR. VOL. 11, p. 463, 503-6, 529-30, 578-9, 617, 666). The new zoning categories were created specifically to accomodate that which the partnership desired to do with the property (TR. VOL. 11, p. 575, 611, 613). The entire City Council was made aware of the nature and extent of the proposed development and that the partnership intended to develop the property to the maximum permitted density (TR. VOL. 11, p. 503-6, 611, 613, 617, 575, VOL. 111, p. 730). The development currently existing on the property is virtually the same as the development described to the City Council in 1971 (TR. VOL. 11, p. 581, 612, VOL. 111, p. 806-7). In the process of negotiating the annexation and rezoning, Maitland made five additional commitments beyond the requested rezoning' which included commitments that the new zoning would be permanent and that Maitland would require only building permits for construction of the project after annexation (R. Exh. 2; TR. VOL. 11, p. 486-7, 536-8, 587, 612, 625, 690-1, 708). At the Maitland

The hearing officer rejected Ridgewood's proposed Finding of Fact No. 24 and found proposed findings 23, 25 and 26 "subordinate to facts found" despite the admission of Respondent's Exhibit 2 and the unrebutted testimony of five witnesses including the seller's attorney, a partnership principal, a former city council member, a former city manager and a DOT appraiser that those commitments were made.

City Council meeting on December 7, 1971, Maitland adopted new interchange commercial zoning categories and applied those categories to the property being annexed and rezoned at that meeting, including original Maitland Center (TR. VOL. 11, p. 531, 584, 611; R. 3121, Tabs 27 & 28, R. Exh. 6, 9, 10).

The partnership purchased the initial 130 acres of property in January, 1972, after the annexation and rezoning, retaining a seven-year option on the remaining 100 acres of original Maitland Center. Subsequently, the partnership exercised the option and purchased the remaining 100 acres. In addition, another 30 acres of property contiguous to the northwest corner of the original parcels, which had been held under three separate ownerships, were purchased pursuant to the same contingent arrangement and were annexed and rezoned under the same conditions by Maitland (TR. VOL. II, p. 540-2, 592; R. Exh. 148, 150A).

In June, 1972, Maitland permitted a conditional use on a one-acre parcel of property <u>east</u> of 1-4, owned by the partnership and annexed but not rezoned in the original December, 1971 annexation. The permitted conditional use was for a 2000 square foot office building to be used as a preview center for the project. The conditional use required that six months after completion of the Maitland Boulevard/I-4 Interchange, the building had to be moved to the west side of 1-4. The building was specifically designed to be moved and was to serve as the tennis club for a multi-family residential development on the annexed and rezoned property west of 1-4. A building permit for the preview center

was issued by Maitland and the building was constructed in 1972 (TR. VOL. II, p. 543-4, 590-1, 620-1, 644; R. Exh. 22, 23, 24, 26, 29, 150Y).

Numerous plans, maps, drawings, brochures and other documents were created by the partnership, detailing the nature and extent of development for the project (R. Exh. 1, 19, 32, 34, 39, 45, 52, 1502, 161, 169, 170, 171). Those documents reflect a project in a very advanced stage with more information than is necessary for DRI review (TR. VOL. 111, p. 922, 925-6). The nature and extent of the development is easily determinable from the brochure (R. Exh. 45) and the construction schedule (R. Exh. 34).

That any maps, plans or other documents regarding original Maitland Center as conceived in the early 1970s exist in Maitland's files is an accident according to Phyllis Holvey, the City Clerk since 1970 (TR. VOL. 111, p. 829). The Department has previously resorted to oral testimony in another case involving a development within Maitland because of Maitland's records destruction (R. Exh. 173, Garretson Depo. at p. 38). Corroborating evidence of the loss or destruction of previously submitted, and in some cases, approved plans, is present (R. Exh. 29, 150Y and TR. VOL. 111, p. 818-9; R. Exh. 52 and TR. VOL. 11, p. 598-605, 629, 662, 701, 708; R. Exh. 32 and TR. VOL. 111, p. 849-54; R. Exh. 51 and TR. VOL. III, p. 850-1).

Maitland did have in its files a construction phasing schedule received by it in early January, 1973 (TR. VOL. 11, p. 667, VOL. 111, p. 840-2; R. Exh. 34). Maitland also maintained a copy of the project brochure reflecting sizes and locations of particular elements of the development (R. Exh. 45; TR. VOL. 111, p. 839). Maitland even provided its consultants preparing its 1973 comprehensive development plan with a portion of the brochure reflecting proposed development on the west side of 1-4 (R. Exh. 44; TR. VOL. 111, p. 728). The partnership's draftsman testified that shopping center plans were in the construction document phase and that residential plans had been completed in the manner set forth in the brochure (TR. VOL. 11, p. 660, 671).

Construction of the project by the partnership was commenced with the building of the tennis club/preview center. However, the State's delay in constructing the Maitland Boulevard/
1-4 Interchange pushed the project into a recessionary period.
In addition, the partnership lost one of the partners by his untimely death (TR. VOL. 11, p. 566).

The Department stipulated to the existence of adequate reliance and change of position to support vested rights and that those rights run with the land (TR. VOL. 11, p. 549-52; R. 3463,  $\P$  4, p. 5).

## C. Legislative History and Department Policy

Chapter 380, Florida Statutes, was enacted during the 1972 legislative session. The original version of the bill contained a limited vested rights provision in Part I, Section 5, subsection 16, providing for vested rights in the context of areas of critical state concern (R. 3121, Tab 1). That provision required substantial reliance and a material change of position to vest rights once a timely authorization to commence development was established. The portion of the bill addressing developments of regional impact initially did not contain a vested rights provision.

During the legislative process, the Senate Natural Resources and Conservation Committee held hearings on the bill on February 15 and 22, 1972 (R. 3121, Tabs 9 & 10). On March 6, 1972, the Senate Ways and Means Committee held a hearing on the bill (R. 3121, Tab 8). The principal Senate sponsor of the bill, Bob Graham, addressed the Ways and Means Committee. During his presentation, Senator Graham specifically equated the definition of development permit, which includes a zoning permit or rezoning, with an authorization to commence development under the vested rights provision (R. 3121, Tab 8, p. 15, 1. 12-19). Further, virtually every example used by Senator Graham in the discussion of that provision dealt with zoning. Senator Graham's comments reflected an intent to incorporate principles of common law

estoppel in the vested rights provision (R. 3121, Tab 8, pp. 15-18). Senator Graham specifically equated estoppel against a local government based on zoning with estoppel against the State under Chapter 380 (R. 3121, Tab 8, p. 17, 1. 15 to p. 18, 1. 19, p. 21, 1. 7-13).

The Ways and Means Committee offered numerous amendments intended to weaken the legislation, including an amendment adopted in the Ways and Means Committee reducing the entire legislation to a study commission (R. 3121, Tab 2). The requirement of <a href="mailto:substantial">substantial</a> reliance and <a href="mailto:material">material</a> change of position was amended to require only reliance and a change of position, thereby broadening the vested rights provision (R. 3121, Tabs 2 through 7).

Chapter 380, Florida Statutes, took effect July 1, 1973. The Department initially applied the statute so that rezoning was a sufficient authorization to commence development for purposes of vested rights. Other than Secretary Pelham, every witness testified that the Department's initial policy was to include rezoning, without more, as an authorization to commence development. The first bureau chief to apply the statute in 1973, Robert Rhodes, testified to that fact and authored a contemporaneous exhibit reflecting that construction (TR. VOL. IV, P. 1003-4, 1014-16; R. Exh. 56), as did former planner and subsequent bureau chief, James May (TR. VOL. 111, p. 976), and former Director of the Division of Resource Planning, Michael Garretson (R. Exh. 173, Garretson Depo. at p. 6-7). Mr. Garretson also testified that the policy on vested rights changed between 1979 and 1983 (Id. at

p. 28-29). Finally, Tasha Buford, former DRI Section Administrator, confirmed the change in policy (TR. VOL. IV, p. 1115-17). Several exhibits corroborate this testimony (R. Exh. 63, 65, 66; D. Exh. 123) and impeach Secretary Pelham's testimony.

Secretary Pelham testified that he or someone on his behalf reviewed every one of numerous binding letters on vested rights issued by the Department since 1973 (TR. VOL. I, p. 313-14). Secretary Pelham purported to disclose the Department's policy and criteria for determining vested rights, stating that the policy requires, in all instances not specified in the statute, a formally approved detailed development plan. The evidence offered to support the policy was limited (TR. VOL. I, p. 329-Secretary Pelham further testified that the Department's vested rights policy was long standing, clear, and well established but that the Department has failed to adopt a rule implementing that policy (TR. VOL. I, p. 314-15). This policy is purportedly represented in the binding and advisory letters issued by the Department (TR. VOL. I, p. 361). Those records contain incomplete files and no subject matter index (TR. VOL. I, p. 388-93, 396-410).

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The administrative hearing in this case was fundamentally unfair and violative of Ridgewood's due process rights. The agency head, Thomas Pelham,

- (i) was the chief executive responsible for the investigatory staff which recommended issuance of the Notice of Violation;
- (ii) issued the Notice of Violation based on his staff's investigation;
- (iv) voluntarily appeared as the Department's
   sole witness in its case-in-chief and as
   its only expert witness;
  - (v) reviewed and ruled on exceptions challenging the existence of competent, substantial evidence to support certain findings on which his testimony was the Department's only evidence; and
- (vi) issued the final order.

In essence, Secretary Pelham investigated, found probable cause, and prosecuted Ridgewood while acting as the sole complaining witness and ultimate judge of the facts and law.

The Department of Community Affairs has ordered that Ridgewood Properties, Inc. undergo DRI review for a development known as Maitland Center. Ridgewood asserts that it is exempt from DRI review for one or more of several reasons.

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