# IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. **74,724** 

RIDGEWOOD PROPERTIES, INC.

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY AFFAIRS,

Appellee.

NOV 8 1989

Deputy Clark

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST DISTRICT, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY AFFAIRS

Diana M. Parker
Senior Attorney
Florida Bar No. 376612

David L. Jordan
Senior Attorney
Florida Bar No. 291609

Department of Community Affairs
2740 Centerview Drive

Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2100
(904) 488-0410

Attorneys for Appellee
Department of Community Affairs

###

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

The Resolutions of 1967 and 1969 do not constitute approval to do anything and are merely advisory in effect with no legally binding status. Second, the mere act of rezoning does not constitute such an authorization, as it has long been held that property owners do not have a vested right in zoning ordinances. City of Miami Beach v. 8701 Collins Ave., 77 So.2d 428 (Fla. 1954); Town of Larso v. Imperial Homes Corp., 309 So.2d 571 (Fla. 2d DCA 1975). Third, the City's purchase of the land itself does not vest any right in the runway extension for the record affirmatively establishes that the City's purpose in purchasing this property was to provide additional "clear zone" for the then existing runway. The mere fact that the City may have envisioned a different use for the land at some future date, without more, cannot endow that later development with vested rights There being no concrete evidence of any authorization to commence development by July 1, 1973, we find that the City has not demonstrated its entitlement to vested rights status for the runway extension. (at 103)

Ridgewood argues that "rezoning" is sufficient authorization to commence development because of its inclusion in the definition of "development permit" as "any building permit,

zoning permit, plat approval, or rezoning, certification, variance, or other action having the effect of permitting development as defined in this Chapter." Many jurisdictions did not have complicated or sophisticated processes for development approval during the 1970's and zoning alone was sometimes all that was necessary before development could begin on a piece of land. In such jurisdictions, where zoning was the only local action preceding development itself, and where there was substantial development completed before the DRI law went into effect on July 1, 1973, such factual circumstances might support a claim of vested rights, both under common law and under the Section 380.06(12) [now 20], F.S., grandfather clause.

However, the facts of this case clearly demonstrate that, within the City of Maitland, zoning did not authorize the developer to begin construction on his property. As noted earlier, the subdivision regulations then in effect required the developer to submit and receive approval of both preliminary and final plats prior to obtaining building permits and commencing construction on the property. (R. 3121, tab 17,19) As we know, preliminary and final plat approvals were received between 1979 and 1985 for the parcels within the Maitland Center development. (R. 1153-1164) Thus, the Hearing Officer properly concluded that neither the rezoning, even coupled with annexation, nor" anything else the City of Maitland did with respect to the property before July 1, 1973, [could] be considered a permit or an authorization to commence development, as defined in Chapter 380." (A. 50)

Ridgewood's argument that paragraph (b) of section 380.06(20), F.S., fully supports its position that rezoning was an authorization sufficient to vest rights is erroneous. paragraph provides that the conveyance of or agreement to convey property to the local government, state or county as a prerequisite to obtain a zoning change would constitute reliance so as to vest development rights. As pointed out by the Hearing Officer, this particular provision "pertains to reliance, which is not an issue, not to the question whether zoning is an 'authorization to commence development.' Even if it pertained to the latter, it addresses the quite different circumstances where a local government entered into a land-for-zoning contract with a developer." (A. 49) There is a total absence of evidence in the record suggesting that Ridgewood's predecessors actually conveyed or agreed to convey any property to the City to obtain the zoning approvals sought for the original Maitland Center property.

B. A REVIEW OF LEGISLATIVE HISTORY IS UNNECESSARY TO THE DETERMINATION OF THE VESTED RIGHTS ISSUE IN THIS CASE.

It is established law in Florida that courts look at legislative history only to resolve an ambiguity in a statute.

Department of Legal Affairs v. Sanford-Orlando Kennel, Inc., 434

So.2d 879 (Fla. 1983). As in the facts of this case, where the statute is clear on its face, there is no need for the Court to look further than the statute itself. Additionally, the Department's interpretation of the vested rights provision has been repeatedly upheld by Florida courts. See: Compass Lake

Hills Development v. Department of Community Affairs, 379 So.2d 376 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979) and <u>City of Fort Lauderdale v. State</u>, <u>Division of Local Resource Manasement</u>, 424 So.2d 102 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982).

It is also established law that an agency's construction of a statute it is charged with administering should be given great weight by the Court and should be sustained, even if another interpretation may be possible or preferable. Humhosco, Inc. v. The Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services, 476 So. 2d 258 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985); Island Harbor Beach Club, Ltd. v. Department of Natural Resources, 495 So. 2d 209 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986); Department of Environmental Resulation v. Goldring, 477 So. 2d 532 (Fla. 1985); Miller v. Agrico Chemical <u>Co.</u>, 383 So.2d 1137 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980); and <u>Reedy Creek</u> Improvement District V. State Department of Environmental Resulation, 486 So.2d 642 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986). Further, the administrative construction of that statute should not be overturned by the Court unless it is clearly erroneous. <u>Island</u> Harbor Beach Club, Ltd. v. Department of Natural Resources, supra.; Shell Harbor Group, Inc. v. Department of Business Resulation, 487 So.2d 1141 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986).

Therefore, a review of legislative history is unnecessary and Ridgewood's argument based upon ancient debate prior to the enactment of the DRI law should be disregarded by this Court. As found by the Hearing Officer, the legislative history was "not particularly enlightening and does not lead to the conclusion that Ridgewood has vested rights." (A. 51)

To lend credence to Senator Graham's statement about zoning and rezoning in its legislative history argument, Ridgewood relies heavily on Bresar v. 8ritton, 75 So.2d 753 (Fla. 1954), cert. denied, 348 U.S. 972 (1955), for the proposition that a developer can have vested rights in zoning. Although Ridgewood alludes to Bresar and the case cited therein [Texas Co. v. Town of Miami Springs, 44 So.2d 808 (Fla. 1950)], a reading of the cases reveals that both were decided not on the zoning issue but rather on very specific actions taken by both the landowner and the local government, which would have resulted in an inequitable situation if the landowner had not prevailed. In both cases, the landowner relied, to his detriment, on formal actions taken by the local government with full knowledge of the landowner's proposed use of his property and knowledge of his subsequent reliance on those actions.

It is true that, in some of the cases cited by Ridgewood, a local zoning action was one of several existing factors considered by the courts before finding that a developer had proceeded so far toward completion of his development that the principle of equitable estoppel would prevent a down-zoning. There may even exist a jurisdiction where zoning is the only regulatory action necessary by the local government prior to commencement of construction of the project, but the City of Maitland is not one of those jurisdictions. (R. 3121, tab 17, 19) Still, the existence of such equitable estoppel cases does nothing to support Ridgewood's position in this case.

The City of Maitland merely passed an ordinance annexing and zoning the original Maitland Center property in December, 1971.

(R. 2339) By its own ordinances, the City required all developers to receive preliminary and final plat approvals before commencing development. (R. 3121, tab 17, 19) Roads, sewers, water, plats and building permits for this office complex were not issued or constructed until 1979-1980, well after the July 1, 1973 effective date of the DRI law. (R. 1229, 1232, 1244-1250, 1262, 1285, 2693, 2697, 2746)

Neither the City nor the state, through its enforcement action now under review by this court, has sought to down-zone Ridgewood's property or to revoke permits already issued, even those issued illegally<sup>4</sup>, to Ridgewood, its predecessors, or the subsequent purchasers of the Maitland Center property. Rather, in this case, the developer is required by law, enacted pursuant to the state's police powers, to undergo a DRI review to assess and mitigate regional impacts resulting from the construction of the office complex. The DRI review process is simply an additional review procedure, which every large-scale development must undergo in furtherance of the public health, safety and welfare. As stated by the Hearing Officer, "...a local government can indeed be estopped from changing zoning after

Chapter 380 requires review and approval of a DRI prior to commencement of construction, which was not done in this case. Application of the DRI process at this time will require assessment of the regional impacts of the existing development plus that of the undeveloped parcels within Maitland Center, and proper mitigation of those impacts prior to any further development of the site.

rights in the zoning have vested . . But compelling a landowner to undergo DRI review does not change the zoning regulations to which he is subjected; it only forces him to address the impacts of development allowed by local zoning." (A. 52-53)

In the instant case, the Department is not attempting to change Ridgewood's zoning or revoke permits issued to construct Maitland Center. It is simply trying to end the developer's willful avoidance of the DRI process that has existed since the project began in 1979 and to require the same adherence to the law from this developer that has been observed by virtually all others similarly situated throughout the state.

The Hearing Officer considered the evidence and testimony and correctly applied the law to the facts of this case. After a four-day hearing, the evidence was extensively summarized in the Findings of Fact and the Hearing Officer concluded,

Under Section 380.04(1) and (2), . . . making an actual change in the use or appearance of land, even by just clearing for purposes of construction is 'development.' But a change in zoning is not 'development.' The facts are clear that Maitland's annexation and zoning of what was to become original Maitland Center did not authorize the Dye, Downs group to commence development." (A. 49-50)

Thus, the Hearing Officer clearly understood and applied Florida law in his determination that requested rezoning was not an authorization to commence development under Maitland's ordinances and Section 380.06(20), F.S. The state, under the circumstances present here, is not estopped from applying Section 380.06 requirements to this DRI.

111. THE HEARING OFFICER CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT ANNEXATION AND REZONING, EVEN COUPLED WITH OTHER FACTORS, DID NOT CONSTITUTE AN AUTHORIZATION TO COMMENCE DEVELOPMENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 380.06(20), FLORIDA STATUTES.

In argument at pages 37-41 of its brief, Ridgewood discusses three additional factors which it claims constitute "other authorization to commence development" when considered with the annexation and zoning of the Maitland Center property by the City of Maitland in December, 1971. The Hearing Officer either rejected the alleged legal significance of these factors urged by Ridgewood or found that there was not a sufficient factual basis to establish their existence. (A. 27, 56; R. 159)

These factors are: 1) a contract for purchase of the property contingent upon rezoning and annexation; 2) local government commitment that building permits were the only requirements prior to construction; and 3) issuance of a building permit for the construction of a temporary movable office building.

The Hearing Officer found the Maitland Center property was the subject of a purchase contract between the Dye, Downs group and S.C. Battaglia, which was conditioned upon annexation of the property into the City of Maitland and zoning to allow office use. (A. 26) At least one City Commissioner testified that he knew of the contingent basis of the contract, but the City was not a party to the contract. (T.Vol. 11, R. 581) The City Commission minutes did not indicate that this "knowledge" was present or the basis for its actions in the annexation or zoning ordinances. (R. 2322, 2335-2341)

In <u>Compass Lakes Hills Development v. Department of Community Affairs</u>, 379 So.2d 376 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979), the court found that "awareness" of a plan of development by the Board of County Commissioners, as evidenced by their affidavits, did not constitute authorization to commence development sufficient to vest development rights because minutes of the Commission meetings are the best evidence of the official knowledge and acts of that body.

Contrary to Ridgewood's allegation, the Hearing Officer found that "Ridgewood did not prove that the city agreed that the owners of the property would be allowed to commence development on the property within the approved zoning restrictions without any additional approvals other than building permits." (A. 27) He also found that the City of Maitland approved a building permit for a small temporary office building in October, 1972. (A. 27) However, the issuance of that building permit vests only the building for which it was approved.

The issuance of a permit to do a specific activity does not carry with it the authorization to undertake more than that specific activity, even where the activity is known by the agency to be only a part of an overall plan. Department of

Environmental Regulation v. Oyster Bay Estates, 384 So.2d 891

(Fla. 1st DCA 1980). In that case, the court found that the permit issued to construct a navigational channel did not authorize the developer to construct the inland canals within his vested DRI subdivisions, even though the permitting agency knew of the overall plan of development at the time the permit was issued.

In the instant case, the building permit authorized, on its face, nothing other than the construction of the 2,000 square foot movable sales office building. (R. 2995-2996)

The Department has always accepted building permits issued prior to July 1, 1973 as authorization to commence development for purposes of Section 380.06(20) vesting determinations.

However, the amount of vested development is dependent upon the amount of development shown of the face of the permit. See:

Department of Environmental Regulation v. Oyster Bay Estates, 384

So.2d 891 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980). In this case, the development permit authorized the construction of a 2,000 square foot temporary office building on property, which is located east of the original Maitland Center site. The single building permit did not carry authorization to commence development on any other building or property within the Maitland Center site. (R. 2995-2996)

No evidence was presented in this case that the City of Maitland, prior to July 1, 1973, approved any master plan for the Maitland Center development or that this building was an integral part of that plan. Under the doctrines set forth in Compass Lake Hills Development v. State, Department of Community Affairs, supra., the approval of a specific plan of development showing specific amounts, types and locations of development is an "other authorization to commence development" sufficient to vest rights when accompanied by reliance and change of position. The issuance of building permits and the construction of buildings would constitute authorization to commence development of a DRI

with reliance and change of position, if the buildings were a distinct part of an approved plan of development. In the facts of this case, the issuance of a single building permit for the 2,000 square foot temporary office building, which was not even on the Maitland Center site, was not in furtherance of an approved development plan and it did not authorize or "vest" the development of a 2.3 million square foot office complex.

- IV. THE DEPARTMENT'S INTERPRETATION OF THE VESTED RIGHTS LAW IS APPLICABLE TO RIDGEWOOD, EVEN THOUGH IT HAS NOT BEEN PROMULGATED AS A RULE.
- A. THE DEPARTMENT'S INTERPRETATION OF THE VESTED RIGHTS LAW DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH SECTION 380.06(20), FLORIDA STATUTES, NOR WITH PRIOR APPLICATION OF THAT PROVISION.

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